### **COVER PAGE**

Protocol #: STUDY 00002440

### **PROTOCOL TITLE**

Pilot Study of the Effect of Duavee® on Benign Breast Tissue Proliferation in Peri or Post-Menopausal Women at Moderate Risk for Development of Breast Cancer

Principal Investigator: Carol J. Fabian, MD

Protocol Chair University of Kansas Medical Center

2330 Shawnee Mission Parkway, Mailstop 5015

Westwood, KS 66205 Phone: 913-588-7791 Fax: 913-588-3679 cfabian@kumc.edu

Co-Investigators: Bruce F. Kimler, Ph.D.

Carola M. Zalles, M.D.

IND: FDA IND Exempt (10 April 2015)

**Agent(s)/Supplier**: Duavee® (Bazedoxifene/conjugated estrogens)

provided by Pfizer/Wyeth Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

**Protocol Version: Revision or Amendment #** Date **Approval** Version 1.0c 24 June 2016 7 July 2016 Version 1.0b 25 April 2016 4 May 2016 Version 1.0a 4 March 2016 10 March 2016 Version 1.0 6 July 2015 10 July 2015

### SCHEMA

Pilot Study of the Effect of Duavee® on Benign Breast Tissue Proliferation in Peri or Post-menopausal Women at Moderate risk for Development of Breast Cancer

### **Population**

Peri- or post-menopausal women <65 with a uterus and BMI < 36 kg/m² who are not taking systemic hormone replacement therapy, who exhibit vasomotor symptoms, and who are at moderate risk of developing breast cancer based on any of the following: 1st or 2nd degree relative with breast cancer, estimated mammographic breast density 25% or higher, prior biopsy showing proliferative breast disease, multiple prior biopsies, or by having either a 5-year risk Gail Risk (as calculated by the NCI Breast Cancer Risk Assessment Tool) or 10-year risk by the IBIS Breast Cancer Risk Evaluation Tool of 2X or more that of the average for the age group.

Women at very high risk such as those with a BRCA1/2 mutation or LCIS are **not** eligible.

### Screening/Eligibility

Normal mammogram within 6 months of aspiration
If performed at KUMC, then eligible for optional volumetric (Volpara) and area (Cumulus)
assessment of density

RPFNA yielding >500 cells on the Ki-67 and/or cytology slide; Ki-67 ≤4% positivity (500 or more cells)

# Baseline Study Visit

Fasting blood draw to archive for serum SHBG, FSH, estradiol, testosterone, progesterone (progesterone for peri-menopausal only), chemistry profile, cytokine panel, and bazedoxifene levels. If peri-menopausal, negative pregnancy test required DEXA Scan for bone density and body composition; Medical history and physical; Height/weight

29 item validated Menopause Quality of Life Intervention Questionnaire and hot flash assessment

Total of 40 participants will receive 6-8 months of open-label Duavee® one tablet daily

# End of Study (6-8 months)

Brief physical, height/weight,

29 item validated Menopause Quality of Life Intervention Questionnaire and hot flash assessment. Study Agent Stopped; Study Agent Returned; Compliance Calculated **Procedures** 

Mammogram for volumetric and area density (if baseline at KUMC); DEXA; RPFNA Fasting blood draw to archive for serum SHBG, FSH estradiol, testosterone, progesterone (peri-menopausal only), chemistry profile, cytokine panel, and bazedoxifene levels

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Page	е
COVER PAGE	
SCHEMA	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	
1. OBJECTIVES	
1.1 Primary Feasibility Objective	
1.2 Secondary Exploratory Objectives6	
2. BACKGROUND	
2.1 The Scope of the Problem	
2.2 Rationale for Present Proposal	
2.3 Proliferation in Hyperplastic Benign Breast Tissue as a Response Endpoint 8	3
2.4 Other Risk and Mechanism of Action Biomarkers in Benign Breast Tissue Likely	
to be Modulated by Duavee®	
2.5 Mammographic Breast Density as Risk and Response Biomarker	C
2.6 Serum risk Biomarkers as Response Endpoints10	C
3. SUMMARY OF STUDY PLAN12	
4. PARTICIPANT SELECTION	3
4.1 Inclusion Criteria for Screening RPFNA13	3
4.2 Exclusion Criteria for Screening RPFNA	3
4.3 Inclusion Criteria for Intervention Phase	
4.4 Exclusion Criteria for Study Intervention	4
4.5 Inclusion of Women and Minorities	
4.6 Recruitment and Retention Plan15	5
5. AGENT ADMINISTRATION	6
5.1 Dose Regimen and Dose Groups16	3
5.2 Duavee® Administration	
5.3 Concomitant Medications	6
5.4 Dose Modification	
5.5 Adherence/Compliance	
6. PHARMACEUTICAL INFORMATION	
6.1 Duavee® Provider	
6.2 Pharmacology	
6.3 Mutagenesis, Carcinogenesis and Fertility	
6.4 Pfizer Sponsored Clinical Studies	
6.5 Special Considerations	
6.6 Availability and Agent Distribution	
6.7 Agent Accountability	
6.8 Packaging and Labels	
6.9 Storage	
6.10 Registration/Randomization	
6.11 Blinding and Unblinding Methods	
6.12 Agent Destruction/Disposal	

7. CLINICAL EVALUATIONS AND PROCEDURES	21
7.1 Schedule of Events	
7.2 Baseline Testing/Pre-study Evaluation	22
7.3 Evaluations During Study Intervention	23
7.4 Evaluation at Completion of Intervention	24
7.5 Post-intervention Follow-up Period	24
8. CRITERIA FOR EVALUATION AND ENDPOINT DEFINITION	25
8.1 Primary Endpoint	25
8.2 Secondary Endpoints	25
8.3 Off Agent Criteria	25
8.4 Off Study Criteria	25
8.5 Study Termination	
9. CORRELATIVE/SPECIAL STUDIES	
10. SPECIMEN MANAGEMENT	
11. REPORTING ADVERSE EVENTS	29
12. STUDY MONITORING	. 31
12.1 Data Management	. 31
12.2 Data and Safety Monitoring Committee	. 31
12.3 Sponsor Monitoring	.31
12.4 Record Retention	
13. STATISTICAL CONSIDERATIONS	. 33
13.1 Study Design/Endpoints	
13.2 Primary Feasibility Endpoints	. 33
13.3 Primary Quantitative Endpoint	. 34
13.4 Secondary Exploratory Endpoints	. 34
13.5 Reporting and Exclusions	. 35
13.6 Interim Analysis	. 36
14. ETHICAL AND REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS	37
14.1 Form FDA 1572	
14.2 Other Required Documents	.37
14.3 Institutional Review Board Approval	37
14.4 Informed Consent	. 37
15. FINANCING, EXPENSES, AND/OR INSURANCE	.38
16 DEFEDENCES	

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADH Atypical Ductal Hyperplasia

Adverse Event ΑE AΗ Atypical Hyperplasia Aromatase Inhibitor ΑI **AUC** Area Under the Curve **BMD** Bone Mineral Density BMI Body Mass Index Complete Blood Count **CBC** Clinical Breast Exam CBE CRF Case Report Form

CSA Clinical Supply Agreement
CTA Clinical Trials Agreement

CTCAE Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events

DARF Drug Accountability Record Form

DCF Data Collection Form
DCIS Ductal Carcinoma In Situ

DEXA Dual-Energy X-ray Absorptiometry
DSMC Data Safety and Monitoring Committee

EGF Epithelial Growth Factor

EGFR Epithelial Growth Factor Receptor

EH Epithelial Hyperplasia

ELISA Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assays

ER Estrogen Receptor

FDA Food and Drug Administration FSH Follicle Stimulating Hormone

GCP Good Clinical Practice

HRT Hormone Replacement Therapy
HSC Human Subjects Committee
IGF-1 Insulin-like Growth Factor-1

IGFBP-3 Insulin-like Growth Factor Binding Protein - 3

IGFR Insulin-like Growth Factor Receptor

IRB Institutional Review Board

KUMC University of Kansas Medical Center

LCIS Lobular Carcinoma In Situ

LDL Low Density Lipid
LH Luteinizing Hormone
NCI National Cancer Institute

NSAID Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drug

PgR Progesterone Receptor PI Principal Investigator

PID Participant Identification number

QNS Quantity Not Sufficient

gRT-PCR Quantitative Real Time – Polymerase Chain Reaction

RIA Radioimmunoassay

RPFNA Random Periareolar Fine Needle Aspiration

SAE Serious Adverse Event

SERM Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulator

SHBG Sex Hormone Binding Globulin

#### 1. OBJECTIVES

Duavee® is tissue specific estrogen complex of bazedoxifene plus conjugated estrogen which is FDA approved for relief of menopausal symptoms and prevention of osteoporosis in women with a uterus who have not been diagnosed with estrogen dependent neoplasia. The overall purpose of this research is to demonstrate in a preliminary fashion that despite reduction in menopausal symptoms, (Duavee®) does not increase and may decrease proliferation in benign breast tissue in a cohort of peri- or post-menopausal women at moderately increased risk for breast cancer. If this pilot shows rapid accrual, good retention, and lack of significant increase in the risk biomarker Ki-67 in benign breast tissue, a larger prevention trial is envisioned in the Southwest Oncology Group

### 1.1 Primary Feasibility Objective

To determine feasibility for a larger clinical trial in women at moderately increased risk we will: **1.1.1 Determine if accrual is brisk** as demonstrated by accrual of at least 20 moderate risk women in the initial 6 months (3.5 entrants per month) in a single institution;

**1.1.2 Determine if there is a 15% or lower dropout rate** over the 6 month intervention; and **1.1.3 Determine if 20% or fewer women with paired RPFNA specimens exhibit a meaningful increase in benign breast cell proliferation (Ki-67**) where meaningful increase is defined as an increase in Ki-67 to 2% or higher in individuals with initial Ki-67< 1% or a doubling of Ki-67 in individuals with initial Ki-67 of 1% or higher.

### 1.2 Secondary Exploratory Objectives

A number of analyses will be conducted in an effort to document and descript the effects of Duavee® on a variety of variables that are actual or potential risk biomarkers for development of breast cancer.

- Assess benign breast tissue for decrease in Ki-67 in women with Ki-67 of 1% or higher
- Assess changes in benign breast tissue estrogen responsive genes by RTqPCR
- Assess changes in benign breast tissue peptides and phosphopeptides.
- Assess changes in serum bioavailable hormones and cytokines
- Assess change in bazedoxifene serum levels as a function of BMI, percent body fat, and compliance (by tablet count)
- Document change if any in body composition (DEXA), and waist circumference
- Document change if any in volumetric breast density (Volpara) and compare to % dense area (Cumulus)

#### 2. BACKGROUND

### 2.1 The Scope of the Problem

Vasomotor and other menopausal symptoms are a significant problem impacting quality of life for up to 75% of women undergoing natural menopause transition usually between age 45 and 55 and generally last about 5 years [Freeman, 2011]. Approximately 1/3 of women have severe enough symptoms to prompt them to seek medical attention. These women and those who develop vasomotor symptoms early in transition are likely to be those who are bothered with these symptoms for 10 or more years [Freeman, 2011; Freeman, 2014]. Hormone replacement therapy, either estrogen alone for women without a uterus or estrogen and progesterone for women with a uterus, is the most effective means of relief but concerns about increasing the risk for breast cancer make providers reluctant to provide prescriptions for hormone replacement therapy for even average risk women much less those at increased risk. Reluctance is largely based on results of the Women's Health Initiative study in which an average of 5 years of combined conjugated estrogen 0.625 mg plus a progestin resulted in a 24% increase in breast cancer risk overall and a 34% increase in risk for women beginning it in their 50's (HR 1.34; 0.82-2.19) [Manson 2013; Anderson 2012]. No increase in risk of breast cancer was observed for conjugated estrogen 0.625 mg/day alone [Manson 2013; Anderson 2012].

At least 25% of women 45 and older are at increased risk for breast cancer because of family, reproductive, or personal health history. In addition to counseling for lifestyle modifications (normal weight, exercise, reduce alcohol intake), peri- and post-menopausal women 35 and older at moderately or higher increased risk may be counseled to take an anti-estrogen to reduce their risk [Visvanathan 2013]. Overall only 4% of women eligible for antihormonal primary prevention therapy agree to take it although it can reduce the risk of breast cancer by 40% or more [Fisher 1998; Vogel 2006; Ropka 2010; Goss 2011; Cuzick 2013; Cuzick 2014].

Given that medications such as tamoxifen and aromatase inhibitors often increase vasomotor symptoms and are not associated with a survival advantage in the primary prevention setting [Visvanathan 2013; Goss 2011; Cuzick 2014], it is likely that an even lower percentage of women currently having difficulty with hot-flashes will agree to take anti-estrogens as primary prevention therapy. The development of tissue selective estrogen complexes combining estrogen (for hot flashes and bone health) plus a selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERM) with breast and uterine antagonist activity presents a potential solution to this conundrum for women with both vasomotor symptoms and an increased risk for development of breast cancer.

### 2.2 Rationale for Present Proposal

In clinical trials of bazedoxifene plus conjugated estrogen (now marketed as Duavee®) versus placebo, relief of hot flashes and improvement of both hip and lumbar spine bone density was accomplished without development of uterine hyperplasia, increase in breast tenderness, or increase in mammographic breast density [Harvey 2013; Pinkerton 2013; Pinkerton 2014a; Pinkerton 2014b; Pinkerton 2014c; Abraham 2014; Komm 2014]. Contra-indications to use of Duavee® include estrogen dependent neoplasia (such as breast, ovarian, and endometrial cancer), predisposition to or prior thromboembolism, hepatic impairment, and abnormal uterine bleeding. There is no explicit label warning about women who may be at increased risk for breast cancer [Duavee® Prescribing Information, 2014].

Preclinical studies in MCF-7 breast cancer cells suggests that bazedoxifene down-regulates ER alpha and decreases cyclin D1 as well as cell growth [Lewis-Wambi 2011].

In non-human primates, 6 months of bazedoxifene or bazedoxifene combined with conjugated estrogen was associated with reduced Ki-67 compared to conjugated estrogens alone in normal mammary tissue [Ethun 2012]. Bazedoxifene combined with conjugated estrogen still functions as an estrogen antagonist in the macaque monkey uterus with reduction of Estrogen Receptor alpha (ER alpha) related genes GREB1 and pS2 (Trefoil Factor 1) [Ethun 2013]. There was little effect on lipids or coronary or peripheral atherosclerosis for bazedoxifene alone but bazedoxifene partially antagonized the protective effects of conjugated estrogens on coronary and peripheral but not cerebral/carotid atherosclerosis [Clarkson 2014].

There is no FDA approved chemopreventive agent for breast cancer risk reduction which reduces menopause symptoms, in fact the SERMs tamoxifen (for pre and postmenopausal women) and raloxifene (for postmenopausal women), as well as aromatase inhibitors (for postmenopausal women), all increase menopause symptoms [Visvanathan 2013]. If bazedoxifene and conjugated estrogens were actually found to reduce proliferation in benign breast tissue similar to what has been observed in animal models, then it should be explored in placebo-controlled Phase IIB trials for change in tissue proliferation and in Phase III trials for change in cancer incidence. The combination of menopause symptom relief and breast cancer risk reduction would be a major advance for women in early menopause. Even if breast cell proliferation did not decrease but was at least stable (not increased) after Duavee®, this would be a major advance as women at increased risk for breast cancer (and their physicians) would likely be more comfortable with its use.

### 2.3 Proliferation in Hyperplastic Benign Breast Tissue as a Response Endpoint

Women with diagnostic biopsy evidence of proliferative breast disease following an abnormal finding on physical exam or mammogram are at increased risk for breast cancer ranging from ~ 2 fold for hyperplasia without atypia to a 4-5 fold increase in relative risk for atypical ductal or lobular hyperplasia [Dupont 1985; Tavessoli 1990; Drystad 2015; Hartmann 2014]. However, women age 50-69 who simply have a diagnostic breast biopsy without evidence of proliferative breast disease or family history may also have a 20% up to a 2 fold increase in the risk for breast cancer [Drystad 2015; Castells 2015]. Proliferation as measured by detection of mitotic index and/or detection of nuclear associated proliferation antigens such as Ki-67 (MIB-I) progressively increases from normal to hyperplasia to atypical hyperplasia and DCIS [Shrestha 1992; Mommers 1999; Allred 1998].

In normal pre-menopausal breast epithelium, proliferation (Ki-67) correlates with systemic levels of progesterone, and is lowest in the follicular phase (0.2-0.7%) and highest in the luteal phase (~2%) [Soderqvist 1997; Shoker 1999]. Ki-67 labeling averages 0-1% in normal postmenopausal epithelium [Shoker 1999]. In diagnostic biopsies from proliferative breast disease Ki-67 has been reported to vary between 1 and 6% [Shaaban 2002; Allred 1998].

A Ki-67 labeling index of 2% or higher in usual duct hyperplasia (cross sectional study from Shaaban) or atypical hyperplasia (Mayo prospective cohort study Santisteban) is associated with increased risk of breast cancer compared with women with hyperplasia or atypical hyperplasia with lower levels of proliferation [Shaaban 2002; Santisteban 2010]. We have used random periareolar fine needle aspiration to obtain benign breast tissue from women at increased risk for breast cancer for risk stratification and to obtain tissue for Phase II prevention

trials for over 2 decades [Fabian 2000, 2002, 2005, 2007, 2010, 2013]. Similar to diagnostic biopsy series, [Dupont 1985; Hartmann 2014] women with cytologic evidence of hyperplasia with atypia have an increased risk of DCIS and invasive cancer as well as a higher proliferative rate [Fabian 2000; Khan 2005]. We observed a median Ki-67 labeling index of 1.4% in RPFNA samples exhibiting hyperplasia with or without atypia from high-risk post-menopausal women in whom there were sufficient cells for Ki-67 to be attempted [Khan 2005]. Inter- and intra-observer variation in interpretation of staining results was low with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.99 [Khan 2005].

A number of antihormonal treatments effective in breast cancer treatment and prevention have been shown to reduce proliferation indices in benign and cancerous breast epithelial cells by 17-50% relative to baseline. [Clarke 1993; Chang 2000; Dowsett 2001; Dowsett 2005; Decensi 2003]. Reduction in proliferation (Ki-67) at two weeks and 12 weeks in the neoadjuvant IMPACT Trial (tamoxifen, anastrozole, combination) was positively associated with disease free survival [Dowsett 2005]. Tamoxifen has been shown to reduce proliferation (Ki-67) in benign breast tissue of postmenopausal women [de Lima 2003]. In a single arm pilot trial six months of the aromatase inhibitor letrozole reduced proliferation by 66% in benign tissue from high-risk women despite continuing hormone replacement [Fabian 2007].

Ki-67 is quantitative, exhibits low intra- and inter-observer variance, and is favorably modulated in benign breast tissue with agents known to be effective in primary and secondary breast cancer prevention. Consequently, change in proliferation as measured by Ki-67 immunohistochemistry is often used as a primary response endpoint in Phase II and pilot prevention studies of premenopausal women and postmenopausal women on hormone replacement therapy [Fabian 2005; Fabian 2007]. We and others have shown that random periareolar fine needle aspiration is accepted by high risk women and is a reproducible means to sample breast tissue [Fabian 2000; Ibarra-Drendall 2009]. However, given the extent of lobular involution in definitively postmenopausal women not on hormone replacement therapy, a sizable number of women may need to be screened by RPFNA to detect those with a Ki-67 of 1-2% or higher, making reduction in Ki-67 an impractical endpoint for primary prevention trials in definitively postmenopausal women not on hormone replacement. Ki-67 has not been adequately studied in moderate to high risk peri-menopausal women < 60 having menopausal symptoms in order to determine the proportion of women with a Ki-67 of >1% in their RPFNA specimen.

# 2.4 Other Risk and Mechanism of Action Biomarkers in Benign Breast Tissue Likely to be Modulated by Duavee®

Sampling of benign breast tissue also provides the opportunity to assess fresh frozen tissue for assessment of change in gene or protein expression to better define mechanism of action. We will assess a number of estrogen response genes including ER alpha, progesterone receptor, pS2 (Trefoil factor 1) cMYC, GREB-1, amphiregulin, known to be increased by estrogen and antagonized by bazedoxifene in mice benign and malignant mammary tissue [Song 2012]. Several additional genes known to be increased at the mRNA level by estrogen such as amphiregulin, FOS, and JAK2 will also be assessed by RTqPCR [Chang 2010; Fabian 2010; Phillips 2013; Ibarra-Drendall 2012; Fabian 2013]. Reverse phase protein arrays will also be used to identify changes in proteins and phosphoproteins in pathways important in breast carcinogenesis [Akbani 2014; Meric-Bernstam 2014; Fabian2013].

### 2.5 Mammographic Breast Density as Risk and Response Biomarker

Mammographic density which is composed histologically of ductal and stromal tissue, and fluid is recognized as a risk factor for breast cancer particularly when corrected for age and Body Mass Index (BMI) [Boyd 1993; Boyd 1995; Boyd 1998; Byrne 1995; Warwick 2014]. Although absolute dense area along with % dense area are both risk biomarkers, % density appears to be the stronger risk biomarker [Pettersson 2014]. In a recent analysis, Boyd et al. suggest that women with a high density in the highest tertile of mammographic density corrected for BMI have a risk of 2.63x that of women in the lowest tertile (0-20% density), and women in the mid tertile (20-41%) a risk of 2.15X that of women in the lowest tertile [Boyd 2014]. Given these updated results it is reasonable to include women with an estimated breast density of 25% or higher in the risk criteria for consideration of participation in this study.

Change in mammographic density is validated as a surrogate response biomarkers for trials involving the selective estrogen receptor tamoxifen which is known to reduce risk for breast cancer by 40% or more [Cuzick 2011; Cuzick 2013]. However, change in breast density is not modulated by raloxifene, a selective estrogen receptor modulator known to reduce risk for breast cancer in postmenopausal women almost to the same extent as tamoxifen [Martino 2004; Freedman 2001; Pearman 2010]. Nor is density modulated with exemestane, an aromatase inhibitor that is shown to reduce breast cancer risk by 65%. [Cigler 2011; Goss 2011]. Weight reduction may actually increase percent dense area [Fabian 2013; Boyd 1997]. Breast density, even with computer assisted calculations, is subjective and pre and post intervention assessments should be performed by the same individual at the same setting with the rater blinded as to which image was baseline [Stone 2003]. In addition there are a number of technical factors that can introduce error when change is being evaluated including variation in type of imaging, positioning and degree of compression.

Breast density (% dense area) was not significantly altered compared to controls over 24 months in a centrally read retrospective analysis of digital mammograms from the SMART 1 study which compared bazedoxifene + 0.45 mg CE or 0.625 mg CE vs placebo to placebo or 60 mg of raloxifene. (Mean reductions of 0.05-.41%). In a prospective cohort of over 900 women in the SMART 5 study ages 40-65 with a mean baseline density of ~25% there was no change in centrally read digital mammographic density over a 12 month period comparing 0.45 or 0.625 mg CE + 20 mg bazedoxifene vs placebo (both declined by ~ 0.3 %). A comparator of CE + medoxyprogesterone acetate increased by 1.66% [Pinkerton 2013]. Automated volumetric mammographic breast density assessments appear to have less variation than computer assisted operator density assessments [Eng 2014; Alonzo-Proulx 2015; Brand 2014; Ekpo 2014]. Automatic Volpara volumetric density measurements utilized in this study will be compared to the Cumulus % dense area to explore whether small changes in density with 6 months of Duavee® may be detected with the volumetric method.

### 2.6 Serum risk Biomarkers as Response Endpoints

Higher endogenous bioavailable estradiol and testosterone levels have long been associated with breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women [Toniolo 1994; Pearce 1989; Tworoger 2014; Verkasalo 2001; Missmer 2006; Farhat 2011]. Several serum biomarkers associated with metabolism are known to be risk biomarkers for proliferative breast disease and breast cancer in postmenopausal women including serum insulin, markers of insulin resistance such as HOMA-IR, adiponectin, leptin: adiponectin ratio [Fabian 2012; Catsburg 2014; Gunter 2009; Hernandez 2014; Vona-Davis 2007]. Lipocalin 2 (Lcn2) and retinol binding protein 4 (RBP4) are

also increased in insulin resistance. Lipocalin 2 has been shown to promote breast cancer development and progression primarily through activation of the estrogen receptor in preclinical models [Guo 2012; Yang 2009; Shi 2008]. An increase in the serum ratio of retinol binding protein to STA6 is oncogenic and is mediated through the actions of JAK2 and Stat 3 and 5 at the cellular level [Berry 2014]. Treatment of ovariectomized mice with conjugated estrogen (CE), bazedoxifene (BZA) or the combination vs control suggests that both CEE and BZA alone or in combination have favorable effects on leptin, adiponectin, Lcn2, and RBP4. The most dramatic effects appear to be for the leptin: adiponectin ratio (reduced by over 10 fold in the ovariectomized mouse) [Kim 2014]. Ovariectomized mice subjected to 10-12 weeks of diets producing obesity showed attenuation of weight gain, fat mass gain, and measures of insulin resistance when treated with BZA and CE [Barrera 2014].

#### 3. SUMMARY OF STUDY PLAN

Peri- or post-menopausal women meeting the risk and medical eligibility criteria (see below) will undergo random periareolar fine needle aspiration (RPFNA) under the umbrella screening protocol HSC 4601. Women with at least 500 cells on their cytomorphology and/or Ki-67 slide, but with Ki-67 expression less than 4% will be eligible to proceed to the intervention phase of this study. At a baseline on-study visit, women will have a physical exam, DEXA for body composition, complete a 29 item Menopause Quality of Life Intervention Questionnaire [Lewis 2005] and hot flash assessment, have fasting blood obtained for biomarkers as well as to assure reasonable normal organ function. Key symptoms assessed at baseline will be hot flashes. Forty women will be entered on the treatment portion of the trial and will take Duavee® one table daily. Drug will be supplied by Pfizer. After 6-8 months of study agent, biomarkers will be reassessed. Mammogram, DEXA for body composition, RPFNA, and blood draw will be repeated. A complete side effects assessment will be performed. Entry of 40 women should allow 36 women to complete the study and be evaluable for the primary endpoint. Trial accrual is anticipated to take 6 months with completion of clinical aspects of the study by 12 months. Since this is not a blinded study, analysis of feasibility and changes in Ki-67 can take place immediately.

### 4. PARTICIPANT SELECTION

### 4.1 Inclusion Criteria for Screening RPFNA

Note that the screening RPFNA may be conducted under a separate IRB-approved research protocol with its own consent form. Potential participants are not required to make a decision regarding participation in the Duavee® trial until after receipt of the results of their RPFNA. However, if a woman is undergoing an RPFNA expressly for participation for this protocol, the following should be kept in mind for eligibility

- 4.1.1 Women with vasomotor symptoms with a uterus who are postmenopausal (no menstrual period for 12 months) or in late menopause transition (no period for 3 months and elevated FSH) [Sherman 2005].
- 4.1.2 Age ≤65
- 4.1.3 BMI: <36 kg/m<sup>2</sup>
- 4.1.4 Breast Imaging: Class I-III mammogram within 6 months of RPFNA. If Class 0 or 4, must be resolved with additional procedures. If breast imaging pre and post study is performed at KUMC, then volumetric assessment by Volpara software will be performed.
- 4.1.5 If previously on oral contraceptives or hormone replacement, off for 8 weeks or more prior to baseline RPFNA. The exception is low dose vaginal hormones (estring, vagifem, or 0.5 gram or less of conjugated estrogen vaginal cream twice weekly or less often). These vaginal preparations may be continued at the same dose.
- 4.1.6 Risk Factors/Level. Moderate risk of developing breast cancer based on either by having at least one of following:
  - First or second degree relative with breast cancer age 60 or younger;
  - Prior breast biopsy;
  - Prior RPFNA atypia;
  - Estimated Mammographic Density of 25% or higher;
  - Gail 5-year risk of >1.7% (as calculated by the NCI Breast Cancer Risk Assessment Tool) or a 5 year Gail Risk of 2X that for age group; and/or
  - IBIS Breast Cancer Risk Evaluation (<a href="http://www.ems-trials.org/riskevaluator/">http://www.ems-trials.org/riskevaluator/</a>)
     [Tyrer–Cuzick 2004]. 10-year relative risk of >2X that for the population for age group.

#### 4.2 Exclusion Criteria for Screening RPFNA

- 4.2.1 Risk: A prior biopsy showing LCIS, DCIS, or invasive breast cancer, or individual with BRCA1/2 deleterious mutation.
- 4.2.2 Medical Conditions:
  - Have a predisposition to or prior history of thromboembolism, deep venous thrombosis, pulmonary embolism, or stroke
  - History of renal or liver disease

- Prior ovarian or endometrial cancer
- Stopped or started hormone replacement within 8 weeks
- Any other condition or intercurrent illness that in the opinion of the investigator makes the woman a poor candidate for RPFNA.

#### 4.2.3 Medications

- Current anticoagulant use (must discontinue for 3 weeks prior to FNA)
- Taking systemic hormones within two months (eight weeks) prior to screening RPFNA.
- Taken tamoxifen, raloxifene, or an aromatase inhibitor within the past 6 months
- Participation on any chemoprevention trial within 6 months

#### 4.3 Inclusion Criteria for Intervention Phase

- 4.3.1 RPFNA Results: An RPFNA performed less than six months prior to enrollment on study that exhibits at least 500 cells on the cytology or Ki-67 slide, and a Ki-67 positivity measured on at least 500 cells that is less than 4%.
- 4.3.2 Baseline chemistry profile showing reasonably normal renal and hepatic function. Creatinine <2.0, Bilirubin < 2.5, and albumin > 3.4
- 4.3.3 Willingness to comply with study procedures.
  - Willing to have a blood draw for serum to archive bioavailable estradiol, SHBG, FSH, and bazedoxifene levels as well as a chemistry profile to ensure reasonable normal organ function at baseline and 6 month visits (approximately four tubes of blood collected)
  - Willing to have a DEXA scan for body composition and waist measurement at baseline and 6-8 months.
  - Willing to have a repeat mammogram and RPFNA at 6-8 months following initiation of study drug
  - Willing to undergo a history, physical, vitals and breast exam at baseline and 6 month visits
  - Willing to be contacted by the trial coordinator at months 1 and 3 during the 6 month study period.
  - Willing to complete a 29 item validated Menopause Quality of Life Intervention Questionnaire and hot flash assessment at baseline and 6 month visits
  - Willing to sign and able to understand separate consents for the RPFNAs and for study participation

#### 4.4 Exclusion Criteria for Study Intervention

#### 4.4.1 RPFNA Criteria:

- Cells suspicious for malignancy
- 4.4.2 Medical: Intercurrent illness which makes potential participant unsuitable for study or started hormone replacement therapy between RPFNA and enrollment on study.

#### 4.5 Inclusion of Women and Minorities

All women who meet eligibility criteria and members of all races and ethnic groups are eligible for this trial.

#### 4.6 Recruitment and Retention Plan

Potential participants will be screened in the Breast Cancer Prevention Center at the University of Kansas Medical Center (KUMC), Westwood, Kansas. All potential participants will be involved in the High Risk Breast Program at KUMC. The duration of accrual is expected to take 6 months, accruing 6.7 participants per month.

Study participants will be contacted by phone at month 1 and month 3 during the months between clinic visits in order to insure active participation and to collect adverse event, dosing and other pertinent information. It is expected that the dropout rate will be less than 10%.

### 5. AGENT ADMINISTRATION

Intervention will be administered on an outpatient basis.

#### 5.1 Dose Regimen and Dose Groups

Open label Bazedoxifene (20 mg) plus conjugated estrogen (0.45 mg) marketed as Duavee® for six months will be given to all trial participants. There will be no randomization as this is a one arm trial. All participants will be given eight months (two months of overage) of Duavee® to allow for scheduling study procedures.

#### 5.2 Duavee® Administration

The KUMC Investigational Pharmacy will be responsible for receiving, inventory and dispensing of study agent.

A study number will be assigned to each participant and provided to the investigational pharmacy. Study agent will be dispensed with the study number and initials of each participant. Eight months of Duavee® will be dispensed. The study coordinator will then give the study agent to the participant with instructions to take one tablet at approximately the same time of day in conjunction with intake of food and to keep track of missed doses or lost tablets.

#### **5.3 Concomitant Medications**

Study participants are strongly encouraged to continue any routine medications throughout the duration of the study to avoid confounding adverse events due to starting and stopping other medications while on study. Participants are not allowed to start tamoxifen, raloxifene, anastrozole, letrozole or any other SERM or aromatase inhibitor (or other chemopreventive) while participating on this trial.

All medications (prescription and over-the-counter), vitamin and mineral supplements, and/or herbs taken by the participant will be documented on the concomitant medication CRF and will include: 1) start and stop date, dose and route of administration, and indication. Medications taken for a procedure (e.g., biopsy) should also be included.

#### **5.4 Dose Modification**

Dose modifications will not be allowed on this study. Because study agent is only available in a single dose tablet, no dose modification option is available. If a participant is experiencing adverse events or is having a medical procedure that requires a brief *suspension* of Duavee®, this must be noted in the CRF on the dose suspension page. At the discretion of the PI, participants may be removed from participation for significant dose suspension time periods.

Participants with grade 2 adverse events considered to be related to study agent will have the agent suspended until the toxicity has resolved. If the adverse event resolves within one month, the agent will then be resumed. If toxicity again occurs, and is thought to be agent-related, the agent will be permanently stopped.

Participants who experience grade 3 toxicity will have the study agent suspended until the adverse event resolves. If the investigator is reasonably certain that the toxicity is not due to the agent, the agent may be re-instituted after resolution of the adverse event.

Development of a grade 4 adverse event will require suspending the study agent. If the investigator feels the event is not study agent related, then it may be re-instituted at full dose once the adverse event is resolved.

Examples of grade 3 or 4 adverse events which would require permanent study agent discontinuation and withdrawal from the trial include development of breast or any other type of cancer (other than skin) that requires definitive treatment; deep venous thrombosis; symptomatic ovarian cysts requiring hospitalization or narcotic pain management. Examples of grade 3 or 4 adverse events requiring temporary discontinuation and possible re-institution include bronchitis/pneumonia, broken bones, nausea-vomiting due to influenza, and rash of unknown cause.

### 5.5 Adherence/Compliance

Participants that maintain 70% compliance throughout the duration of the trial will be considered "compliant". Compliance will be measured through tablet counts conducted by the trial coordinator and recorded in the CRF.

#### 6. PHARMACEUTICAL INFORMATION

Duavee® is the combination of 0.45 mg of conjugated estrogen and 20 mg of bazedoxifene and was approved for relief of menopausal symptoms and prevention of postmenopausal osteoporosis in women with a uterus in October 2013. Contraindications listed in prescribing information include undiagnosed abnormal uterine bleeding, past history of breast cancer, current estrogen-dependent neoplasia, active or history of venous or arterial thromboembolism, hypersensitivity to estrogen or bazedoxifene, known hepatic impairment or disease, known protein C, protein S, or anti-thrombin deficiency or other thromboembolic disorders, or pregnancy and nursing.

#### 6.1 Duavee® Provider

Duavee® will be provided for this study by Pfizer, Inc., the manufacturer.

### 6.2 Pharmacology

- 6.2.1 Absorption: Both bazedoxifene and conjugated estrogen are well absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract. Bio-availability of bazedoxifene is 6%. Steady state concentrations are obtained by day 10. At day 10 steady state C<sub>max</sub> for the estrogen component is 2.6 ng/ml estrone and 6.9 ng/ml bazedoxifene with T<sub>max</sub> after a single dose of 6.5 and 2.5 hours respectively in postmenopausal women.
- 6.2.2 Food Effect: Duavee® may be taken without regard to meals but a high fat meal increased the AUC by 25%.
- 6.2.3 Distribution: The estrogen component is bound to SHBG and albumin and is widely distributed. Bazedoxifene is also highly distributed and circulates highly bound (97-98%) to plasma proteins but not SHBG. A radio-ligand assay has been developed for bazedoxifene [Komm 2005 Endocrinology, Harris 2002]
- 6.2.4 Metabolism: The estrogen component is metabolized similarly to endogenous estrogen with conversion reversibly to estrone which can be converted to 17 B estradiol or estriol, or estrone sulfate. Bazedoxifene is metabolized via glucuronidation with little cytochrome P450 mediated metabolism. The concentration of the 5-glucuronidated metabolite in the circulation is 10x that of the parent compound.
- 6.2.5 Excretion: Total estrone is eliminated primarily in the urine with a half-life of 17 hours. Bazedoxifene is eliminated via biliary excretion and feces with <1% in urine. The elimination half-life of bazedoxifene is 30 hours. It is likely that it undergoes an extensive entero-hepatic circulation and that some drugs might interfere with elimination. However, commonly used antibiotics, NSAIDs, and antacids had minimal tested effect on Bazedoxifene concentrations with increases in AUC of Bazedoxifene of 6-7% with coadministration of ibuprofen, atorvastatin, and aluminum and magnesium hydroxide and decease of bazedoxifene by 15% with azithromycin.

### 6.3 Mutagenesis, Carcinogenesis and Fertility

There is no evidence that bazedoxifene is mutagenic or genotoxic. In female rats and mice there is evidence of increase in benign ovarian, and ovarian granulosa cell tumors. Estrous cycles and fertility is impaired in female rats.

### **6.4 Pfizer Sponsored Clinical Studies**

- 6.4.1 Relief of Menopausal Symptoms in Women: a 12 week double blind placebo controlled trial in women age 42-62 (mean 53) who had moderate to severe hot-flashes showed a reduction in mean number of hot flashes of 5.9 per day compared to a reduction of -2.8 for the placebo by 4 weeks as well as a reduction in severity.
- 6.4.2 Uterine Side Effects in Women: The incidence of endometrial hyperplasia was < 1 % and spotting showed little difference from placebo.
- 6.4.3 Bone Density: Mean % change in BMD with Duavee® at 24 months was + 1.72 vs -1.90 for placebo in women menopausal for 1-5 years.

### 6.5 Special Considerations

- 6.5.1 Hepatic or Renal Impairment: Duavee® is contraindicated in women with hepatic impairment (AUC of bazedoxifene increases by 100 % in moderate and over 300 % in severe hepatic impairment) and has not been evaluated in women with renal impairment. Women with significant hepatic or renal abnormalities will not be eligible for this study.
- 6.5.2 Women with high BMI: a 17% reduction in bazedoxifene is predicted in women with a BMI < 27 kg/m² compared those with < 27 kg/m². Reduction in bazedoxifene levels may be associated with increased risk of uterine hyperplasia in women using the Duavee® long term but it is unlikely to be an issue in our short term trial. Nonetheless we will restrict eligibility to women with a BMI of < 36 kg/m².
- 6.5.3 Advanced Age: No difference in safety or effectiveness were noted in the small number of women tested between 65-74 in clinical trials with Duavee® and Duavee® has not been tested in women over 75. Due to concerns about obtaining adequate amounts of breast tissue by RPFNA we will limit study entry to those 65 and younger.

### 6.6 Availability and Agent Distribution

Duavee® comes from Pfizer as tablets containing 20 mg of bazedoxifene and 0.45 mg of CE. 240 tablets containing 20 mg of bazedoxifene and 0.45 mg of CE will be dispensed at entry of the participant onto the study so as to provide an adequate number of tablets for 8 months. The 8 months is based on the planned 6 months of administration, plus two additional months if required to accommodate scheduling of procedures.

### 6.7 Agent Accountability

The Protocol Lead Investigator (Fabian) is required to maintain adequate records of receipt, dispensing and final disposition of study agent. This responsibility has been delegated to the KUMC Investigational Pharmacy. Include on receipt record from whom the agent was received

and to whom study agent was shipped, date, quantity and batch or lot number. On dispensing record, note quantities and dates study agent was dispensed to and returned by each participant.

#### 6.8 Packaging and Labels

Duavee® will be supplied by Pfizer in a form ready for dispensing. For dispensing, each container will be labeled with a one-part label identifying study specific information, such as Study title, HSC protocol number, subject ID number, dosing instructions, recommended storage conditions, and a caution statement indicating that the agent is limited by United States law to investigational use only and the agent should be kept out of reach of children.

#### 6.9 Storage

Study agent will be stored in the controlled access Investigational Pharmacy, at room temperature.

### 6.10 Registration/Randomization

There is no randomization for this open-label, single arm study. Registration will be in an enrollment log managed by the study coordinator, with matching participant study numbers and initials in the Investigational Pharmacy at KUMC.

All participants signing consent forms will be assigned a Study ID number, have the Registration CRF completed, and be entered into the CRIS database.

### **6.11 Blinding and Unblinding Methods**

Not applicable.

#### 6.12 Agent Destruction/Disposal

At the completion of investigation, all unused study agent will be returned to the PI for return to the KUMC Investigational Pharmacy and destroyed in accordance with KUMC investigational Pharmacy regulations.

## 7. CLINICAL EVALUATIONS AND PROCEDURES

### 7.1 Schedule of Events

### **SCHEDULE OF EVENTS**

Evaluation/ Procedure	Pre-Study/ Screening RPFNA	Baseline	Contact End of Month 1 & 3	Month 6	Follow Up Phone Contact
Mammogram	X			Χ	
RPFNA for cytomorphology,	Х			Х	
Ki-67, RTqPCR, proteomics					
Fasting blood archived for		X		Х	
SHBG, estradiol,					
testosterone, progesterone,					
FSH, adipocytokines, and					
Bazedoxifene levels					
Assess Eligibility	X	X			
Informed Consent		Х			
Medical History		Х			
Physical Exam/CBE		X			
Vital Signs/ Height and		Х		Χ	
Weight, BMI, waist					
measurement					
29 item validated		X		Х	
Menopause Quality of Life					
Intervention Questionnaire					
and hot flash assessment					
Blood Chemistry		X		X	
DEXA body composition		Х		Х	
and waist measurement					
Symptom Assessments		X	X	X	X
Concomitant Medications		X	X	Χ	X
Pregnancy test if peri-		Х			
menopausal					
Dispense Study Agent		X			
Collect Study Agent				Χ	
Adverse Events			X	Χ	X
Telephone or Email Contact			Х		X

### 7.2 Baseline Testing/Pre-study Evaluation

### 7.2.1 Pre-study Eligibility RPFNA

Women who potentially meet medical eligibility criteria for trial and are interested will undergo a pre-study screening visit. Women may take vitamin K 10 mg/day for 3 days prior to the aspiration to help prevent hematoma formation but this is not required.

RPFNA will be performed under local anesthesia from both breasts (two sites on each breast) and all cells pooled from both breasts (one breast in the case of prior DCIS or invasive cancer) into a single 15 cc tube containing modified Cytolyt™ (9 cc Cytolyt™ and 1 cc 10% neutral buffered formalin). After cleansing the breast with betadine and alcohol swabs, the breast is anesthetized with epinephrine and lidocaine using a tuberculin syringe. After the surface has been anesthetized, epinephrine and lidocaine are injected deeper into the breast at two sites, approximately at the 10 and 2 o'clock locations. Then, 5-6 needle passes are made into the anesthetic puncture sites to withdraw epithelial cells lining the ductal tree.

After the procedure, participants will have ice packs placed on the breast for 10-15 minutes to control swelling and bleeding. Participants are then wrapped with gauze cling wrap to create pressure on the puncture sites. A snug bra is also strongly recommended. Participants are advised to limit strenuous physical activity over the next 24 hours and to report any pain or signs of infection.

Participants are offered Ativan 1 mg prior to the procedure for anxiety, and analgesics after the procedure in order to control any pain that may occur. These medications are optional. Participants should also be instructed to eat a full breakfast the morning of the RPFNA, to abstain from vitamin E, NSAIDS and fish oil products for three weeks prior to RPFNA, and if planning on taking Ativan, to have someone with them to drive them to and from the clinic.

#### 7.2.2 Pre-study risk assessment

- Gail Risk assessment: A 5-year projected probability of breast cancer development
   ("Gail risk") will be calculated using the NCI website algorithm
   (http://www.cancer.gov/bcrisktoolmobile). The risk is expressed as relative to the
   average risk for women in the same age-group, based on values calculated from the
   Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Program provided by the NCI
   (http://srab.cancer.gov/devcan/)
- IBIS Risk assessment: a 10 year The IBIS Risk Assessment will be performed. The IBIS Breast Cancer Risk Evaluation Tool can be found (<a href="http://www.ems-trials.org/riskevaluator/">http://www.ems-trials.org/riskevaluator/</a>).
- Mammographic Density Estimation: Mammographic Density will be estimated from the pre-study digital mammogram left cranial caudal view. Note that a digital mammogram must have been performed within 6 months of RPFNA.

#### 7.2.3 Baseline Studies

### 7.2.3.1 Brief Physical and Medical History

All women will have a brief physical (including clinical breast exam) performed by a study-associated clinician. This may be performed at the time of the RPFNA. All abnormal findings will be recorded on the physical source document, including duration and severity. Height and weight, BMI, and waist measurement will also be recorded. Women will have a medical history collected by study personnel, including event dates, duration, and severity.

#### 7.2.3.2 DEXA Scan

Dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DEXA; Lunar Corp.) will be performed within 90 days prior to study initiation and at the completion of study participation to analyze change in body fat mass, fat free mass, and percent body fat. DEXA uses very low X-ray doses (0.02 mrem), that is, less than several hours of background exposure, and is able to detect changes in body composition on the order of 1.6-3.8%. DEXA will also be used to estimate visceral adipose composition. All calculations use GE Prodigy 9.1 software.

#### 7.2.3.3 Bloodwork

Fasting (10-12 hours) blood will be drawn for

- Archived serum for FSH, testosterone, estradiol, SHBG, and for perimenopausal women progesterone, as well as adipocytokines and bazedoxifene levels.
- Chemistry profile will also be drawn and processed real time at the KUMC
  Westwood lab to ensure reasonable normal organ function. The chemistry profile
  will be approved by the PI or study associated Nurse Practitioner prior to dispensing
  of study agent.

### 7.2.3.4 Baseline symptom assessment

A baseline symptom assessment will be made, including such relevant conditions as hot flashes and other vasomotor symptoms. A 29 Item validated Menopause Quality of Life Intervention Questionnaire will be utilized at baseline and end of study. We will also utilize the hot flash scoring system developed by Dr. Charles Loprinzi at Mayo Clinic [Loprinzi 2002]. Adverse events will be recorded using NCI common terminology criteria for adverse events version CTCAE 4.0.

#### 7.2.3.5 Negative Pregnancy Test

For peri-menopausal women with most recent menstrual period less than 12 months, a negative pregnancy test is required prior to dispensing study agent. This may be either blood or urine based.

#### 7.3 Evaluations During Study Intervention

Participants will be contacted after 1 and 3 months by the study coordinator by telephone or email as the subject prefers to review dosing and adverse events. These will be recorded in the source documents and subsequently entered onto CRFs. Women who report grade 3-4 adverse events (other than menopausal symptoms) will be evaluated in person to fully assess adverse events; and will be followed at intervals deemed necessary by the investigator until the adverse event has resolved.

#### 7.4 Evaluation at Completion of Intervention

The off-study fine needle aspiration is scheduled to occur after 6 months of study agent. However, aspiration may be delayed for scheduling purposes and study agent may be continued for up to two additional months, until the aspiration is performed. If this occurs, then studies associated with the repeat aspiration and completion of study will be conducted at that time, not at a calendar six months.

Participants will have a mammogram, DEXA, RPFNA, and a brief physical (including clinical breast exam) performed by a study-associated clinician. An off study mammogram will be obtained at KUMC paid for by the study if it is not time for the regular screening mammogram. All abnormal findings will be recorded on the physical source document, including duration and severity. Vital signs, height, weight, BMI, and waist measurement will also be recorded.

The collection of fasting blood for biomarker assay should be done same day if at all possible and will be performed prior to the RPFNA. Women will eat prior to having the RPFNA performed

When the participant has completed taking study agent, any remaining supply will be returned to the Investigational Pharmacy and the number of tablets returned will be counted for assessment of compliance.

### 7.5 Post-intervention Follow-up Period

Approximately four weeks after last consumption of study agent, the participant will be contacted by the trial coordinator to assess adverse events and answer any remaining questions.

#### 8. CRITERIA FOR EVALUATION AND ENDPOINT DEFINITION

### 8.1 Primary Endpoint

Prior to formal analysis, there are two aspects of a feasibility trial that are based on simple numbers. If we cannot accrue 40 eligible women within a reasonable time (no more than 12 months) and/or if more than 15% of enrolled participants do not complete the study, then it would not be practical to propose future studies.

For the Specific Aim of documenting that Duavee® does not cause a meaningful increase in proliferation, only participants for whom paired specimens evaluable for Ki-67 will be included. An increase in Ki-67 will be defined by one of two scenarios: a) from a baseline Ki-67 <1% to a Ki-67 >2%; or b) for a baseline Ki-67 >1%, at least a doubling of the baseline value.

### 8.2 Secondary Endpoints

For the second Specific Aim (Does Duavee® cause a reduction in Ki-67?), we will consider only participants having baseline Ki-67 > 1%; and thus the potential to experience a decrease.

Any remaining assessments of modulation due to Duavee® would be considered exploratory for purposes of informing future applications and trial designs. This would include change in breast cytomorphology index score; changes in gene expression (specifically, pS2, PGR, ER alpha, GREB-1, Amphiregulin, SDF-1, cyclin D1) by RTqPCR; changes in levels of ER alpha and cyclin D1 and possibly other proteins and phosphoproteins by proteomics; change in serum bioavailable hormones, adipocytokines, and change in menopause specific quality of life. For these analyses, all participants with paired pre-study and post-study data will be included.

#### 8.3 Off Agent Criteria

Participants may stop taking study agent for the following reasons: completed the protocolprescribed intervention, adverse event or serious adverse event, inadequate agent supply, noncompliance, concomitant medications, medical contraindication, or physician determination. Participants will continue to be followed, if possible, for safety reasons and in order to collect endpoint data according to the schedule of events.

#### 8.4 Off Study Criteria

Participants may go 'off-study' for the following reasons: the protocol intervention and any protocol-required follow-up period is completed, adverse event/serious adverse event, lost to follow-up, non-compliance, concomitant medication, medical contraindication, withdraw consent, death, or participant wishes. If a participant goes off-study for any other reason, details will be recorded.

#### 8.5 Study Termination

A frequency of greater than grade 2 adverse events (exclusive of hot flashes and menstrual irregularities) that exceeds 20% will be cause for consideration of stopping the trial; unless there is adequate information to suggest that the adverse events are not related to the study agent.

#### 9. CORRELATIVE/SPECIAL STUDIES

### 9.1 Ki-67 and Cytomorphology

Tissue for Ki-67, cytomorphology (4/5 of aspirate), are placed in a modified Cytolyt solution as indicated below and from ~ 1/5<sup>th</sup> of the aspiration placed immediately in PBS and is immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen for gene and protein expression studies.

### 9.1.1 Ki-67 Primary Endpoint

Cells are acquired by RPFNA following informed consent. Cells are pooled in a 15 cc conical tube containing 10 cc of formalin modified Cytolyt<sup>™</sup> and processed via a liquid based thin layer cell preparation system (ThinPrep<sup>™</sup> 2000, Cytyc Corporation). A minimum of two slides will be made: at least one each for cytology and one for Ki-67. Total epithelial cells will be delineated with Mayer's hematoxylin counterstain and proliferating cells with a MIB-1 (DAKO M7240) antibody for Ki-67. We have adapted a staining technique using high temperature antigen retrieval [Khan 2005].

A DAKO automatic stainer will be used for all stains except hematoxylin to insure staining consistency. Ki-67 is visualized as punctate brown dots in the nucleus. Manual counting will be performed by two laboratory technicians employed and scoring assessed by two laboratory technicians. The scores will consist of number of cells assessed, and number of positive cells for Ki-67. Hyperplastic ducts with the highest concentration of MIB-1 positively staining cells will be selected for analysis and 500 total ductal cells will be scored. Numbers of nuclei expressing Ki-67 will be expressed as a percentage of total numbers of cells counted. If hyperplasia is not present in the follow-up specimen at 6 months, non-proliferative areas will be assessed. Cell clusters assessed are viewed with a digital imaging system and representative images archived. A separate score for each technician and a consensus score will be recorded. The consensus score will be utilized for analysis of the primary endpoint.

#### 9.1.2 Cytomorphology

Cytologic assessment of all screened and on-study participants will be performed by Dr. Carola Zalles, the designated cytopathologist for this study. She will provide a traditional characterization (QNS, normal, apocrine metaplasia, epithelial hyperplasia, or hyperplasia with atypia) and a semi-quantitative cytology index score (modified Masood score [Masood 1990])

#### 9.2 Serum Assays

Blood will be drawn fasting for adipocytokines and hormones. All baseline and end of study serum assays will be run together along with pooled serum to control for batch variation. Adipocytokines are run using customized Luminex kits in the breast cancer prevention laboratory. Estradiol and testosterone will either be performed in the Breast Cancer Prevention laboratory or, alternatively, at the Ligand Assay and Core Analysis Laboratory at the University of Virginia (UVA). The lower limit of detection for estradiol at the Ligand Lab is 1.5 pg/ml and the intraassay variation is 4.3%. SHBG is assayed by an immunometric assay using the Immulite analyzer (Diagnostic Products Corp), with a lower limit of detection 0.2 nmol/L and intraassay variation of 2.4%.

### 9.3 Exploratory Molecular Markers

Depending upon funds availability, exploratory studies may be conducted of molecular markers from archived frozen tissue stored at -80°C. This includes RTqPCR for estrogen inducible gene transcripts and a proteomics panel.

If residual cellular material is available, cells may be processed to slides and processed for evaluation of ER expression by immunocytochemistry. ER expression will be assessed with ID5 antibody from Dako diluted at 1:100 and applied for 30 minutes. The ER protocol has been optimized for fine needle aspirate specimens processed as ThinPrep slides [Petroff 2006]. This protocol involves use of low temperature (90°C) retrieval for two minutes with a 0.2X nuclear decloaker (Biocare) and use of a 0.01% glucose oxidase blocking reagent for 30 minutes at 37°C. ER expression will be hand scored by two readers utilizing 100 cells from a hyperplastic duct exhibiting ER staining. The proportion of cells staining at each intensity (0-4+) will be assessed. The proportion of cells staining at each intensity is then multiplied by the intensity to achieve proportion/intensity sub-scores. The weighted intensity score (IS) is computed by adding together the proportion/ intensity sub-scores. Under this system, scores can theoretically range from 0-4. However, for benign hyperplastic cells which average 30% ER expression with 2+ staining, our median intensity score is approximately 0.6.

### 10. SPECIMEN MANAGEMENT

### 10.1 Specimen Processing and Laboratories

### 10.1.1 RPFNA

RPFNA is performed in the Breast Cancer Prevention Center as outlined above. Cytolyt/formalin fixed specimen is placed on a rocker and frozen specimen is kept in liquid nitrogen prior to transport (few hours) and processing in the Breast Cancer Prevention Laboratory. The KUMC Breast Cancer Prevention Center Laboratory, under the direction of Carol Fabian MD. Is located on the first floor of the Cancer Research Building with a total of 1597 square feet plus 400 square feet of office space. The laboratories are fully equipped for cell culture, the processing and assessment of cytology and immunocytochemistry slides, multiple serum and tissue assays (ELISA's RIAs), laser microdissection, RT-qPCR, and various other molecular biology techniques. Staff located in the administrative/laboratory unit include an experienced cytology technician, a masters prepared biologist, and an additional technician experienced in multiple molecular techniques.

### 10.1.2 Blood Based Assays

Initial processing for blood tests occurs in the Breast Cancer Prevention Center where we have all necessary equipment for phlebotomy, and initial processing including a refrigerated centrifuge and immediate access to a -80°C freezer.

**Blood for the chemistry profile** will be drawn in a mint gel clot tube performed by a current CLIA certified clinical laboratory. Generally the clinical laboratory at the Cancer Center Clinical Laboratory at the Westwood campus.

**Hormones**: Two full gel clot tubes are allowed to clot at room temperature for thirty minutes, then spun at 3500 rpm for 15 minutes. 1-1.5 ml aliquots are placed into four polypropylene cryovials. Tubes are then stored in the -80°C freezer until all specimens from a participant can be analyzed in the same batch.

**Adipocytokine panel:** 1 red serum tube (no gel stopper) is allowed to clot at room temperature for thirty minutes, then centrifuged at 4,100 RPM for 5 minutes at 4°C. Place 1-1.5 ml aliquots into three 2 ml cryovials. Tubes are then stored in the -80°C freezer until all specimens from a participant can be analyzed in the same batch.

**Blood for Bazedoxifene Levels:** 1 EDTA plasma tube is obtained. Centrifuge at 3000 RPM for 10 minutes. Place 1ml aliquots into two 2 ml cryovials. Tubes are then stored in the -80°C freezer until all specimens from a participant can be analyzed in the same batch.

### 10.3 Shipping instructions

Samples to be assayed at the University of Virginia will be shipped on dry ice.

#### 11. REPORTING ADVERSE EVENTS

DEFINITION: An adverse event (AE) is any untoward medical occurrence in a study participant. An AE does not necessarily have a causal relationship with the treatment or study participant. An AE can therefore be any unfavorable and unintended sign (including an abnormal laboratory finding), symptom, or disease temporally associated with participation in a study, whether or not related to that participation. This includes any death that may occur while a participant is on a study.

#### 11.1 Adverse Events

### 11.1.1 Reportable Adverse Events

All adverse events that occur after the informed consent is signed must be recorded on the adverse event CRF whether or not related to study agent.

#### 11.1.2 AE Data Elements

- AE reported date
- AE Verbatim Term
- CTCAE Term (v 4.0)
- Event onset date and event ended date
- Severity grade
- Attribution to study agent (relatedness)
- Whether or not the event was reported as a Serious Adverse Event (SAE)
- Action taken with the study agent
- Outcome of the event
- If participant discontinues trial because of AE
- Comments

### 11.1.3 Severity of AEs

Identify the adverse event using the NCI Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) version 4.0. The CTCAE provides descriptive terminology and a grading scale for each adverse event listed. A copy of the CTCAE can be found at <a href="http://ctep.cancer.gov">http://ctep.cancer.gov</a>.

AEs will be assessed according to the CTCAE grade associated with the AE term. AEs that do not have a corresponding CTCAE term will be assessed according to their impact on the participant's ability to perform daily activities as follows:

Grade	Severity	Description
1	Mild	Barely noticeable, does not influence functioning Causing no limitations of usual activities
2	Moderate	Makes participant uncomfortable, influences functioning Causing some limitations of usual activities
3	Severe	Severe discomfort, treatment needed Severe and undesirable, causing inability to carry out usual activities

4	Life	Immediate risk of death
	threatening	Life threatening or disabling
5	Fatal	Causes death of the participant

### 11.1.4 Assessment of relationship of AE to treatment

The possibility that the adverse event is related to study drug will be classified as one of the following: not related, unlikely, possible, probable, definite.

#### 11.1.5 Follow-up of AEs

All AEs, including lab abnormalities that in the opinion of the investigator are clinically significant, will be followed according to good medical practices and documented as such.

#### 11.2 Serious Adverse Events

### 11.2.1 Definition

ICH Guideline E2A and Fed. Reg. 62, Oct. 7, 1997 define serious adverse events as those events, occurring at any dose, which meet any of the following criteria:

- Results in death
- Is life threatening (Note: the term life-threatening refers to an event in which the patient was at risk of death at the time of the event; it does not refer to an event which hypothetically might have caused death if it were more severe).
- Requires inpatient hospitalization or prolongation of existing hospitalization
- Results in persistent or significant disability/incapacity
- Is a congenital abnormality/birth defect
- Events that may not meet these criteria, but which the investigator finds very unusual and/or potentially serious, will also be reported in the same manner.

#### 11.2.2 Reporting Serious Adverse Events to

As per institutional procedures, SAEs will be reported to the University of Kansas Cancer Center Data Safety and Monitoring Committee and to the Human Subjects Committee (KUMC's IRB)

Elements to be reported may include

- Date and time of the SAE
- Date and time of the SAE report
- Name of reporter
- Call back phone number
- Protocol number
- Title of protocol
- Description of the SAE, including attribution to drug and expectedness

All SAE's will be followed until there is resolution or stability based on the PI's judgment.

#### 12. STUDY MONITORING

#### 12.1 Data Management

Investigator/staff will also keep a log of potentially eligible individuals screened for study and if not entered the primary reason they declined participation.

Eligibility checklist and all clinical data capture form (including current medications) will be completed by the PI or clinical staff. Laboratory reports and data will be kept in the participant specific study binders as well. Co-existent disease and adverse events will be coded using the NCI CTCAE, version 4.0.

Source documents will consist of reports (mammogram reports, laboratory reports, etc.), and forms created specifically for this study that will capture information such as physical exam, phone contact information, adverse events, concomitant medications, demographics, etc. Source document files/chart or electronic medical records must be kept available for monitoring and throughout data analysis.

All participants will be registered in the Comprehensive Research Information System (CRIS) managed by the Department of Biostatistics and the Cancer Center's Biostatistics and Informatics Shared Resource. Questionnaires will be completed online by participants for direct entry into REDCAP. Where this is not possible, paper forms will be used and will be directly photocopied (assuring that no personal identifiers such as name or medical record number are retained) and these will be sent for data entry. All data forms will be stored in subject specific binders in the data office. All CRFs and questionnaires will be identified by participant initials and study ID number only. Data from laboratory and other research assessments will be entered into appropriate databases for eventual relay to the biostatistician for merging together with clinical information collected in REDCAP for statistical analyses, including quality control checks.

All data will be audited and verified prior to being considered final. When the database has been declared to be complete and accurate, the database will be locked and sent for statistical analysis.

#### 12.2 Data and Safety Monitoring Committee

This study will be monitored by the University of Kansas Cancer Center Data Safety and Monitoring Committee, as per institutional guidelines. There is a quarterly review of subject recruitment, subject retention, adverse events, and serious adverse events.

#### 12.3 Sponsor Monitoring

Any required clinical monitoring by the provider of the study agent will be accommodated and specific procedures incorporated into the protocol.

#### 12.4 Record Retention

Clinical records for all participants, including CRFs, all source documentation (containing evidence to study eligibility, history and physical findings, laboratory data, results of consultations, etc.), as well as IRB records and other regulatory documentation will be retained

by the Protocol Lead Investigator (Dr. Carol Fabian) in a secure storage fawith HIPAA, OHRP, FDA regulations and guidelines.	acility in compliance
Dugua e far High Diek Warran	Version 4.0s

#### 13. STATISTICAL CONSIDERATIONS

### 13.1 Study Design/Endpoints

The experimental design for the study is an open label, single arm pilot study of Duavee® as a prevention drug for breast cancer in high risk peri- or post-menopausal women at high risk for development of breast cancer, with Ki-67 positivity of <4%. Participants will receive Duavee® one tablet daily for six months. No randomization or stratification is involved. The primary endpoint is demonstration of feasibility for subsequent trials of Duavee® using a series of preset criteria having to do with accrual rate, completion, and lack of evidence for an increase in breast epithelial cell proliferation. A secondary endpoint will examine the specific potential for Duavee® to actually reduce cell proliferation and thus function as a breast cancer chemopreventive agent. A series of exploratory endpoints will document clinical efficacy (relief of vasomotor symptoms) and will examine modulation of other quantitative biomarkers potentially related to breast cancer development.

### 13.2 Primary Feasibility Endpoints

The primary endpoint overall is an assessment of feasibility that will inform the decision about and the design of subsequent trials. This will be based on considerations of 1) ease of accrual of the target population; 2) acceptance and tolerability of the intervention. Basically. If either fail, then it would indicate that future trials with this approach are not feasible to consider

For the first aspect of accrual, a criterion has been set at 20 participants accrued in 6 months (starting from when the trial is actually open to enrollment). If the accrual rate is slower than this, it would be impractical to conduct a similar trial at a single institution. While total accrual will be used for this initial criterion, the relative ease of accrual into the two cohorts (Cohort A, Ki-67<1%; Cohort B,  $1\% \le \text{Ki-67} < 4\%$ ) will be taken into consideration. Certainly it is anticipated that accrual to Cohort A will be easier and faster, but if accrual to Cohort B is not at least half the overall rate (i.e., 20 participants per 12 months) then it would indicate that a trial requiring measureable Ki-67 >1% would not be a feasible option. For this assessment, accrual is considered as meeting all eligibility criteria, signing an informed consent, and receiving the first dose of study agent. This number will then be used for consideration of the second feasibility aspect.

The second aspect of feasibility is retention of participants on trial, completion of the planned 6 months of intervention, and acquisition of repeat RPFNA specimen (plus blood, mammogram, etc.) for assessment of modulation in quantitative biomarkers. A criterion has been set at 85% completion overall. While the ultimate goal is paired samples for comparison of biomarkers (for sample size and power calculation purposes), a high incidence of early problems with participant compliance in general (adverse events, complaints about the study agent or the schedule, etc.) would serve as an indication that the intervention would not be suitable for future trials.

The above criteria are intended to inform consideration of future biomarker trials with Duavee®; not to provide conclusive proof of principle. Thus, pre-set values for "success" or "failure" have been established; rather than a formal approach of statistical analysis and sample size power calculations. The total number of 40 participants represents a reasonable number for a pilot trial. Given our experience with similar biomarker trials using a variety of SERMs or an AI, this size

trial will readily document efficiency in accrual and identify problems with participant acceptance (compliance, retention, completion).

### 13.3 Primary Quantitative Endpoint

The primary quantitative (but secondary overall) endpoint addresses the specific question that Duavee® might produce the deleterious effect of increasing breast cell proliferation. While there is no evidence for this (and the FDA does not consider this a risk to be included in labelling) it is still a perceptual concern by women and providers. Thus, an assessment will be made of the frequency of participants that exhibit a likely clinically meaningful increase in Ki-67. This will be defined differently for the two cohorts, but both will contribute to the analysis of potential increase. For Cohort A (initial Ki-67 < 1%), a meaningful increase is defined as any value of 2% or greater on the off-study aspiration. For Cohort B (initial Ki-67 ≥1% but <4%), a meaningful increase is defined as a doubling or greater of the initial rate (i.e., a repeat aspiration value of at least 2%). Historically, for women in our High Risk Breast Clinic similar to those being enrolled in this study, approximately an 11% incidence of Ki-67 increasing is observed in the absence of any intervention. Therefore, with a minimum (per feasibility endpoint #2) of 34 paired specimens in which to assess change, an observed frequency of 10% or less would provide assurance that the true rate does not exceed 20% (95% confidence interval). Conversely, an observed frequency as high as 20% could still accommodate a true rate of 10%. Thus, as long as the observed frequency is ≤20%, subsequent trials could be designed with a placebo-control arm. Only for an observed frequency >20% would it be impractical to design future biomarker trials.

### 13.4 Secondary Exploratory Endpoints

This study is not specifically powered to address the objectives of estimating favorable change in quantitative biomarker endpoints that may be related to risk for development of breast cancer.

The most critical biomarker from a breast cancer prevention standpoint is that of cell proliferation, specifically a reduction in value for participants whose baseline specimen exhibited sufficient Ki-67 staining (1%) that there is the potential for a decrease). Thus, this analysis will be limited to those participants in Cohort B. Also this parameter will be analyzed first and separately from all other biomarkers. Descriptive statistics will be used to summarize the values of Ki-67 (percent of cells staining positive) in the baseline specimen, the 6-month (off-study) specimen, and the change (both absolute and relative) from baseline to off-study. For statistical analysis, the Wilcoxon signed-rank test will be used to accommodate the expected small sample size and to avoid any assumptions regarding normal distributions. Only participants who provide paired specimens evaluable for Ki-67 will be included in this analysis. However, for off-study specimens where the cell yield is so low (<100 cells per slide) that assessment of Ki-67 is not even possible, an anti-proliferative effect can be inferred. Thus, a value of 0.5% will be imputed as a reasonable compromise between imputing a value of 0% (no evidence of any proliferation) and a value of 1% (e.g., only 1 positive cell out of 100 counted). Since a nonparametric approach is used, the exact imputed value has minimal impact given that the criterion for inclusion is a baseline value of 1%. For this primary evaluation of modulation of a quantitative measure, p<0.05 will be considered the criterion for statistical significance.

Should there be adequate, paired specimens, further exploration of this primary endpoint variable, relative change in Ki-67, will be accomplished by developing an appropriate model and testing covariates. If necessary, an appropriate transformation will be used in this regression.

For these possible analyses, as for the exploratory analyses below, no adjustment will be made for multiple comparisons, but the results will be interpreted with caution.

Secondary to analysis of Ki-67, other variables will be assessed that represent a wide variety of cellular, molecular, and physical factors that have been proposed to have some level of connection with the process of breast cancer development. Categorized by the "specimen" being assessed, the variables are:

### **Participant**

Mammographic breast density
Weight and BMI,
DEXA body composition and waist measurement

#### Blood

Hormones Adipocytokines Bazedoxifene levels

#### **RPFNA**

Cytomorphology (categorical)
Peptides and phosphopeptides (proteomics)
Gene expression (RT-qPCR)

Descriptive statistics will be used to summarize the values at baseline (prior to start of intervention), at 6 months (after completion of intervention), and the change (both absolute and relative) from baseline to off-study. Medians, ranges, and interquartile ranges will be employed for all variables, along with mean and standard deviation for variables shown to be normally distributed. As appropriate, 95% confidence intervals will also be computed.

It should be noted that these variables are anticipated to be assessed for all participants that provide paired specimens, and thus the total should be close to 40. This provides additional opportunity to achieve normal distributes and to conduct exploratory correlational analyses. Thus paired t-test will be used for normally distributed values (initial or after appropriate transform), but nonparametric tests such as the Wilcoxon signed rank test will be used when necessary

Since these analyses are considered as exploratory, no adjustments will be made for multiple comparisons and p<0.05 will be considered the criterion for statistical significance. However, caution will be employed in the interpretation and presentation of the results.

Lastly, an assessment of menopause symptom relief in this cohort will be conducted using a 29 item validated Menopause Quality of Life Intervention Questionnaire and hot flash assessment. The same statistical methods as above will be employed. The intent is not statistically significant "proof" of efficacy as Duavee® is already FDA-approved for this indication.

#### 13.5 Reporting and Exclusions

All participants who receive any Duavee® will be analyzed for adverse events. For biomarker modulation, all participants that have evaluable pre-study and post-study specimens and assessments will be included in the analysis,

Compliance will be determined by tablet counts, which will be done at the end of treatment. Participants that maintain 70% compliance throughout the duration of the trial will be considered "compliant". Compliance, in terms of the number of tablets missed and percent of participants compliant, will be summarized with descriptive statistics. Supporting tests for the analyses will

be performed including only these participants who are compliant and have taken Duavee® for at least 3 months and have taken Duavee® within 2 weeks prior to the post-study aspiration.

### 13.6 Interim Analysis

There will be no formal interim analysis of the endpoints of the study. Particularly, the quantitative endpoints (other than cytomorphology and Ki-67) are routinely batch-processed at the completion of study with pre- and post-intervention samples assayed together. However, it is possible that the feasibility endpoints could be evaluated early. For example, if six participants drop out of the study early, one would not require enrolment of the full planned 40 participants to conclude that the drop-out rate of 15% was unacceptably high. If it becomes obvious that the trial will not demonstrate feasibility, then accrual to the trial can be terminated early.

Safety data will be reviewed quarterly by the KUMC KUCC Data Safety and Monitoring Committee.

#### 14. ETHICAL AND REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS

#### 14.1 Form FDA 1572

Prior to initiating this study, the Protocol Investigator will provide a signed Form FDA 1572 stating that the study will be conducted in compliance with regulations for clinical investigations.

### 14.2 Other Required Documents

- Signed and dated current (within two years) Curriculum Vitae or biosketch for all investigators listed on the Form FDA 1572.
- ♦ Current medical licenses for all investigators listed on Form FDA 1572.
- ♦ Lab certification (e.g., CLIA, CAP) and lab normal ranges for all labs listed on Form FDA.
- ♦ IRB Membership list/letter from IRB.
- ♦ Documentation of training in "Protection of Human Research Subjects" for all investigators listed on the FDA Form 1572.

### 14.3 Institutional Review Board Approval

Prior to initiating the study and receiving agent, the Principal Investigator must obtain written approval to conduct the study from the University of Kansas Medical Center's Human Subjects Committee (IRB). Should changes to the study become necessary, amended protocol must be approved by the KUMC HSC prior to implementation.

#### 14.4 Informed Consent

An informed consent will be signed by every participant that undergoes an RPFNA. This informed consent is used in conjunction with the KUMC HSC# 4601 study, which is the High Risk Protocol. If a participant is interested and eligible for study participation, she will then be given a copy of the study-specific informed consent document.

All potential study participants will be given a copy of the KUMC HSC-approved study-specific Informed Consent to review. The investigator will explain all aspects of the study in lay language and answer all questions regarding the study. If the participant decides to participate in the study, she will be asked to sign the study-specific Informed Consent document. The study agent will not be released to a participant who has not signed the study-specific Informed Consent document. Participants who refuse to participate or who withdraw from the study will be treated without prejudice.

As part of the informed consent, participants will allow the use of blood samples and tissues collected for this study to be used for further research purposes.

The study-specific informed consent document must be reviewed and approved by the KUMC HSC prior to study initiation. Any subsequent changes to the study-specific informed consent must be approved by the KUMC HSC prior to implementation.

# 15. FINANCING, EXPENSES, AND/OR INSURANCE

All laboratory tests and clinic visits required specifically for study participation will be done at no cost to the participant or her insurance company.

#### 16. REFERENCES

- Abraham L, Pinkerton JV, Messig M, Ryan KA, Komm BS, Mirkin S. Menopause-specific quality of life across varying menopausal populations with conjugated estrogens/bazedoxifene. Maturitas. 2014; 78:212-218.
- Akbani R, Becker KF, Carragher N, Goldstein T, de Koning L, Korf U, Liotta L, Mills GB, Nishizuka SS, Pawlak M, Petricoin EF 3rd, Pollard HB, Serrels B, Zhu J. Realizing the promise of reverse phase protein arrays for clinical, translational, and basic research: a workshop report: the RPPA (Reverse Phase Protein Array) society. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2014; 13:1625-43.
- Alonzo-Proulx O, Mawdsley GE, Patrie JT, Yaffe MJ, Harvey JA. Reliability of Automated Breast Density Measurements.Radiology. 2015; 275:366-76.
- Allred DC, Hilsenbeck SG. Biomarkers in benign breast disease: risk factors for breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1998;90:1247-8.
- Anderson GL, Chlebowski RT, Aragaki AK, Kuller LH, Manson JE, Gass M, Bluhm E, Connelly S, Hubbell FA, Lane D, Martin L, Ockene J, Rohan T, Schenken R, Wactawski-Wende J. Conjugated equine oestrogen and breast cancer incidence and mortality in postmenopausal women with hysterectomy: extended follow-up of the Women's Health Initiative randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 2012; 13:476-486.
- Barrera J, Chambliss KL, Ahmed M, Tanigaki K, Thompson B, McDonald JG, Mineo C, Shaul PW. Bazedoxifene and conjugated estrogen prevent diet-induced obesity, hepatic steatosis, and type 2 diabetes in mice without impacting the reproductive tract. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2014; 307:E345-54
- Berry DC, Levi L, Noy N Holo-retinol-binding protein and its receptor STRA6 drive oncogenic transformation. Cancer Res. 2014; 74:6341-51.
- Boyd NF, Lockwood GA, Martin LJ, Knight JA, Byng JW, Yaffe MJ, Tritchler DL. Mammographic densities and breast cancer risk. Breast Dis. 1998;10:113-26.
- Boyd NF, Huszti E, Melnichouk O, Martin LJ, Hislop G, Chiarelli A, Yaffe MJ, Minkin S. Mammographic features associated with interval breast cancers in screening programs. Breast Cancer Res. 2014; 16:417.
- Boyd NF, Greenberg C, Lockwood G, Little L, Martin L, Byng J, Yaffe M, Tritchler D. Effects at two years of a low-fat, high-carbohydrate diet on radiologic features of the breast: results from a randomized trial. Canadian Diet and Breast Cancer Prevention Study Group. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1997; 89:488-96.
- Boyd NF, Byng JW, Jong RA, Fishell EK, Little LE, Miller AB, Lockwood GA, Tritchler DL, Yaffe MJ. Quantitative classification of mammographic densities and breast cancer risk: results from the Canadian National Breast Screening Study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1995; 87:670-5.
- Brand JS, Czene K, Shepherd JA, Leifland K, Heddson B, Sundbom A, Eriksson M, Li J, Humphreys K, Hall P. Automated measurement of volumetric mammographic density: a tool for widespread breast cancer risk assessment. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2014; 23:1764-72.
- Byrne C, Schairer C, Wolfe J, Parekh N, Salane M, Brinton LA, Hoover R, Haile R. Mammographic features and breast cancer risk: effects with time, age, and menopause status. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1995; 87:1622-9.
- Castells X, Domingo L, Corominas JM, Torá-Rocamora I, Quintana MJ, Baré M, Vidal C, Natal C, Sánchez M, Saladié F, Ferrer J, Vernet M, Servitja S, Rodríguez-Arana A, Roman M, Espinàs JA, Sala M. Breast cancer risk after diagnosis by screening mammography of nonproliferative or proliferative benign breast disease: a study from a population-based screening program. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2015; 149:237-44.

- Catsburg C, Gunter MJ, Chen C, Cote ML, Kabat GC, Nassir R, Tinker L, Wactawski-Wende J, Page DL, Rohan TE. Insulin, estrogen, inflammatory markers, and risk of benign proliferative breast disease. Cancer Res 2014; 74:3248-3258.
- Chang J, Powles TJ, Allred DC, Ashley SE, Makris A, Gregory RK, Osborne CK, Dowsett M. Prediction of clinical outcome from primary tamoxifen by expression of biologic markers in breast cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2000; 6:616-21.
- Chang KC, Wang Y, Bodine PV, Nagpal S, Komm BS. Gene expression profiling studies of three SERMs and their conjugated estrogen combinations in human breast cancer cells: insights into the unique antagonistic effects of bazedoxifene on conjugated estrogens.J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2010; 118:117-24
- Cigler T, Richardson H, Yaffe MJ, Fabian CJ, Johnston D, Ingle JN, Nassif E, Brunner RL, Wood ME, Pater JL, Hu H, Qi S, Tu D, Goss PE. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial (NCIC CTG MAP.2) examining the effects of exemestane on mammographic breast density, bone density, markers of bone metabolism and serum lipid levels in postmenopausal women. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2011; 126:453-61.
- Clarke RB, Laidlaw IJ, Jones LJ, Howell A, Anderson E. Effect of tamoxifen on Ki-67 labelling index in human breast tumours and its relationship to oestrogen and progesterone receptor status. Br J Cancer. 1993; 67:606-11.
- Clarkson TB, Ethun KF, Pajewski NM, Golden D, Floyd E, Appt SE. Effects of bazedoxifene, conjugated equine estrogens, and a tissue-selective estrogen complex containing both bazedoxifene and conjugated equine estrogens on cerebral artery atherosclerosis in postmenopausal monkeys. Menopause 2014; 21:8-14.
- Cuzick J, Warwick J, Pinney E, Duffy SW, Cawthorn S, Howell A, Forbes JF, Warren RM. Tamoxifen-induced reduction in mammographic density and breast cancer risk reduction: a nested case-control study. J Natl Cancer Inst 2011; 103:744-752
- Cuzick J, Sestak I, Bonanni B, Costantino JP, Cummings S, DeCensi A, Dowsett M, Forbes JF, Ford L, LaCroix AZ, Mershon J, Mitlak BH, Powles T, Veronesi U, Vogel V, Wickerham DL; SERM. Chemoprevention of Breast Cancer Overview Group. Selective oestrogen receptor modulators in prevention of breast cancer: an updated meta-analysis of individual participant data. Lancet 2013; 381:1827-1834.
- Cuzick J, Sestak I, Forbes JF, Dowsett M, Knox J, Cawthorn S, Saunders C, Roche N, Mansel RE, von Minckwitz G, Bonanni B, Palva T, Howell A; IBIS-II investigators. Anastrozole for prevention of breast cancer in high-risk postmenopausal women (IBIS-II): an international, double-blind, randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2014; 383:1041-1048.
- Decensi A, Robertson C, Viale G, Pigatto F, Johansson H, Kisanga ER, Veronesi P, Torrisi R, Cazzaniga M, Mora S, Sandri MT, Pelosi G, Luini A, Goldhirsch A, Lien EA, Veronesi U. A randomized trial of low-dose tamoxifen on breast cancer proliferation and blood estrogenic biomarkers. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 2003; 95: 779-90.
- de Lima GR, Facina G, Shida JY, Chein MB, Tanaka P, Dardes RC, Jordan VC, Gebrim LH. Effects of low dose tamoxifen on normal breast tissue from premenopausal women. Eur J Cancer. 2003; 39:891-8.
- Dowsett M, Bundred NJ, Decensi A, Sainsbury RC, Lu Y, Hills MJ, Cohen FJ, Veronesi P, O'Brien ME, Scott T, Muchmore DB. Effect of raloxifene on breast cancer cell Ki67 and apoptosis: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized clinical trial in postmenopausal patients. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2001; 10:961-6.
- Dowsett M, Ebbs SR, Dixon JM, Skene A, Griffith C, Boeddinghaus I, Salter J, Detre S, Hills M, Ashley S, Francis S, Walsh G, Smith IE. Biomarker changes during neoadjuvant anastrozole, tamoxifen, or the combination: influence of hormonal status and HER-2 in breast cancer--a study from the IMPACT trialists. J Clin Oncol. 2005; 23:2477-92.

- Duavee Full Prescribing Information. Pfizer, Inc. website at. http://labeling.pfizer.com/ShowLabeling.aspx?id=1174; downloaded October 30, 2014.
- Dyrstad SW, Yan Y, Fowler AM, Colditz GA. Breast cancer risk associated with benign breast disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2015; 149:569-75.
- Dupont WD, Page DL Risk factors for breast cancer in women with proliferative breast disease. N Engl J Med 1985; 312:146-151.
- Ekpo EU, McEntee MF. Measurement of breast density with digital breast tomosynthesis--a systematic review. Br J Radiol. 2014; 87:20140460.
- Eng A, Gallant Z, Shepherd J, McCormack V, Li J, Dowsett M, Vinnicombe S, Allen S, dos-Santos-Silva I. Digital mammographic density and breast cancer risk: a case-control study of six alternative density assessment methods Breast Cancer Res. 2014;16:439.
- Ethun KF, Wood CE, Register TC, Cline JM, Appt SE, Clarkson TB. Effects of bazedoxifene acetate with and without conjugated equine estrogens on the breast of postmenopausal monkeys. Menopause 2012; 19:1242-1252.
- Ethun KF, Wood CE, Cline JM, Register TC, Appt SE, Clarkson TB. Endometrial profile of bazedoxifene acetate alone and in combination with conjugated equine estrogens in a primate model. Menopause. 2013; 20:777-84.
- Fabian CJ. Adiponectin: a risk biomarker and attractive target for chemoprevention. J Clin Oncol. 2012; 30:124-6.
- Fabian CJ, Kimler BF. Mammographic density: use in risk assessment and as a biomarker in prevention trials. J Nutr 2006; 136:2705S-2708S.
- Fabian CJ, Kimler BF, Zalles CM, Klemp JR, Kamel S, Zeiger S, Mayo MS. Short-term breast cancer prediction by random periareolar fine-needle aspiration cytology and the Gail risk model. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2000; 92:1217-27.
- Fabian CJ, Kimler BF, Brady DA, Mayo MS, Chang CH, Ferraro JA, Zalles CM, Stanton AL, Masood S, Grizzle WE, Boyd NF, Arneson DW, Johnson KA. A phase II breast cancer chemoprevention trial of oral alpha-difluoromethylornithine: breast tissue, imaging, and serum and urine biomarkers. Clin Cancer Res. 2002: 8:3105-17.
- Fabian CJ, Kimler BF, Mayo MS, Khan S: Breast tissue sampling for risk assessment and prevention. Endocrine-Related Cancer. 2005; 12:185-213.
- Fabian CJ, Kimler BF, Zalles CM, Klemp JR, Petroff BK, Khan QJ, Sharma P, Setchell KD, Zhao X, Phillips TA, Metheny T, Hughes JR, Yeh HW, Johnson KA. Reduction in Ki-67 in benign breast tissue of high-risk women with the lignan secoisolariciresinol diglycoside. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2010; 3:1342-50
- Fabian CJ, Kimler BF, Zalles CM, Khan QJ, Mayo MS, Phillips TA, Simonsen M, Metheny T, Petroff BK. Reduction in proliferation with six months of letrozole in women on hormone replacement therapy. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2007; 106:75-84
- Fabian CJ, Kimler BF, Donnelly JE, Sullivan DK, Klemp JR, Petroff BK, Phillips TA, Metheny T, Aversman S, Yeh HW, Zalles CM, Mills GB, Hursting SD. Favorable modulation of benign breast tissue and serum risk biomarkers is associated with > 10 % weight loss in postmenopausal women. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2013; 142:119-132.
- Farhat GN, Cummings SR, Chlebowski RT, Parimi N, Cauley JA, Rohan TE, Huang AJ, Vitolins M, Hubbell FA, Manson JE, Cochrane BB, Lane DS, Lee JS. Sex hormone levels and risks of estrogen receptor-negative and estrogen receptor-positive breast cancers. J Natl Cancer Inst 2011; 103:562-570.
- Fisher B, Costantino JP, Wickerham DL, Redmond CK, Kavanah M, Cronin WM, Vogel V, Robidoux A, Dimitrov N, Atkins J, Daly M, Wieand S, Tan-Chiu E, Ford L, Wolmark N. Tamoxifen for prevention of breast cancer: report of the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project P-1 Study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1998; 90:1371-88.

- Freeman EW, Sammel MD, Lin H, Liu Z, Gracia CR. Duration of menopausal hot flushes and associated risk factors. Obstet Gynecol 2011; 117:1095-1104.
- Freeman EW, Sammel MD, Sanders RJ. Risk of long-term hot flashes after natural menopause: evidence from the Penn Ovarian Aging Study cohort. Menopause 2014; 21:924-932.
- Freedman M, San Martin J, O'Gorman J, Eckert S, Lippman ME, Lo SC, Walls EL, Zeng J. Digitized mammography: a clinical trial of postmenopausal women randomly assigned to receive raloxifene, estrogen, or placebo. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2001; 93:51-6.
- Goss PE, Ingle JN, Alés-Martínez JE, Cheung AM, Chlebowski RT, Wactawski-Wende J, McTiernan A, Robbins J, Johnson KC, Martin LW, Winquist E, Sarto GE, Garber JE, Fabian CJ, Pujol P, Maunsell E, Farmer P, Gelmon KA, Tu D, Richardson H; NCIC CTG MAP.3 Study Investigators. Exemestane for breast-cancer prevention in postmenopausal women. N Engl J Med 2011; 364:2381-2391.
- Guo, H., Zhang, Y., Brockman, D.A., Hahn, W., Bernlohr, D.A., Chen, X. Lipocalin 2 deficiency alters estradiol production and estrogen receptor signaling in female mice. Endocrinology 2012; 153:1183–1193.
- Gunter MJ, Hoover DR, Yu H, Wassertheil-Smoller S, Rohan TE, Manson JE, Li J, Ho GY, Xue X, Anderson GL, Kaplan RC, Harris TG, Howard BV, Wylie-Rosett J, Burk RD, Strickler HD. Insulin, insulin-like growth factor-I, and risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2009; 101:48-60.
- Harris HA, Bapat AR, Gonder DS, Frail DE. The ligand binding profiles of estrogen receptors α and β are species dependent. Steroids 2002; 67:379–84.
- Hartmann LC, Radisky DC, Frost MH, Santen RJ, Vierkant RA, Benetti LL, Tarabishy Y, Ghosh K, Visscher DW, Degnim AC. Understanding the premalignant potential of atypical hyperplasia through its natural history: a longitudinal cohort study. Cancer Prev Res 2014; 7:211-217.
- Harvey JA, Pinkerton JV, Baracat EC, Shi H, Chines AA, Mirkin S. Breast density changes in a randomized controlled trial evaluating bazedoxifene/conjugated estrogens. Menopause. 2013; 20:138-145.
- Hernandez AV, Guarnizo M, Miranda Y, Pasupuleti V, Deshpande A, Paico S, Lenti H, Ganoza S, Montalvo L, Thota P, Lazaro HI. Association between insulin resistance and breast carcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2014; 9:e99317.
- Ibarra-Drendall C, Troch MM, Barry WT, Broadwater G, Petricoin EF 3rd, Wulfkuhle J, Liotta LA, Lem S, Baker JC Jr, Ford AC, Wilke LG, Zalles C, Kuderer NM, Hoffman AW, Shivraj M, Mehta P, Williams J, Tolbert N, Lee LW, Pilie PG, Yu D, Seewaldt VL. Pilot and feasibility study: prospective proteomic profiling of mammary epithelial cells from high-risk women provides evidence of activation of pro-survival pathways. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012; 132:487-98.
- Ibarra-Drendall C, Wilke LG, Zalles C, Scott V, Archer LE, Lem S, Yee LD, Lester J, Kulkarni S, Murekeyisoni C, Wood M, Wilson K, Garber J, Gentry C, Stouder A, Broadwater G, Baker JC Jr, Vasilatos SN, Owens E, Rabiner S, Barron AC, Seewaldt VL. Reproducibility of random periareolar fine needle aspiration in a multi-institutional Cancer and Leukemia Group B (CALGB) cross-sectional study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2009; 18:1379-85.
- Khan QJ, Kimler BF, Clark J, Metheny T, Zalles CM, Fabian CJ. Ki-67 expression in benign breast ductal cells obtained by random periareolar fine needle aspiration. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2005; 14:786-9.
- Kim JH, Meyers MS, Khuder SS, Abdallah SL, Muturi HT, Russo L, Tate CR, Hevener AL, Najjar SM, Leloup C, Mauvais-Jarvis F. Tissue-selective estrogen complexes with bazedoxifene prevent metabolic dysfunction in female mice. Mol Metab. 2014; 3:177-90.

- Komm BS, Mirkin S, Jenkins SN. Development of conjugated estrogens/bazedoxifene, the first tissue selective estrogen complex (TSEC) for management of menopausal hot flashes and postmenopausal bone loss. Steroids 2014; 90:71-81.
- Komm BS, Kharode YP, Bodine PV, Harris HA, Miller CP, Lyttle CR. Bazedoxifene acetate: a selective estrogen receptor modulator with improved selectivity. Endocrinology. 2005; 146:3999-4008.
- Lewis JE, Hilditch JR, Wong CJ. Further psychometric property development of the Menopause-Specific Quality of Life questionnaire and development of a modified version, MENQOL-Intervention questionnaire. Maturitas 2005; 50:209–21.
- Lewis-Wambi, JS, Kim H, R. Curpan R, Grigg R, Sarker MA, Jordan VC. The selective estrogen receptor modulator bazedoxifene inhibits hormone-independent breast cancer cell growth and down-regulates estrogen receptor alpha and cyclin D1. Mol Pharmacol 2011; 80:610–20.
- Loprinzi L, Barton DL, Sloan JA, Zahasky KM, Smith de AR, Pruthi S, Novotny PJ, Perez EA, Christensen BJ. Pilot evaluation of gabapentin for treating hot flashes. Mayo Clin Proc. 2002; 77:1159-63.
- Martino S, Cauley JA, Barrett-Connor E, Powles TJ, Mershon J, Disch D, Secrest RJ, Cummings SR; CORE Investigators. Continuing outcomes relevant to Evista: breast cancer incidence in postmenopausal osteoporotic women in a randomized trial of raloxifene. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2004; 96:1751-61.
- Manson JE, Chlebowski RT, Stefanick ML, Aragaki AK, Rossouw JE, Prentice RL, Anderson G, Howard BV, Thomson CA, LaCroix AZ, Wactawski-Wende J, Jackson RD, Limacher M, Margolis KL, Wassertheil-Smoller S, Beresford SA, Cauley JA, Eaton CB, Gass M, Hsia J, Johnson KC, Kooperberg C, Kuller LH, Lewis CE, Liu S, Martin LW, Ockene JK, O'Sullivan MJ, Powell LH, Simon MS, Van Horn L, Vitolins MZ, Wallace RB. Menopausal hormone therapy and health outcomes during the intervention and extended post stopping phases of the women's health initiative randomized trials. JAMA 2013; 310:1353–68.
- Masood S, Frykberg ER, McLellan GL, Scalapino MC, Mitchum DG, Bullard JB. Prospective evaluation of radiologically directed fine-needle aspiration biopsy of non-palpable breast lesions. Cancer 1990; 66:1480-7.
- Meric-Bernstam F, Akcakanat A, Chen H, Sahin A, Tarco E, Carkaci S, Adrada BE, Singh G, Do KA, Garces ZM, Mittendorf E, Babiera G, Bedrosian I, Hwang R, Krishnamurthy S, Symmans WF, Gonzalez-Angulo AM, Mills GB. Influence of biospecimen variables on proteomic biomarkers in breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2014; 20:3870-83.
- Missmer SA, Eliassen H, Barbier RL, Hankinson SE. Endogenous estrogen, androgen, and progesterone concentrations and breast cancer risk among postmenopausal women. J Natl Cancer Inst 2004; 96:1856–65.
- Mommers EC, van Diest PJ, Leonhart AM, Meijer CJ, Baak JP. Balance of cell proliferation and apoptosis in breast carcinogenesis. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 1999; 58:163-9.
- Pearce S, Dowsett M, Jeffcoate SL. Three methods compared for estimating the fraction of testosterone and estradiol not bound to sex-hormone-binding globulin. Clin Chem. 1989; 35:632-5.
- Pearman L, Kagan R, Arsenault J, Muram D. The effects of raloxifene on mammographic breast density: a review of clinical trials. Menopause 2010; 17:654-9.
- Pettersson A, Graff RE, Ursin G, Santos Silva ID, McCormack V, Baglietto L, Vachon C, Bakker MF, Giles GG, Chia KS, Czene K, Eriksson L, Hall P, Hartman M, Warren RM, Hislop G, Chiarelli AM, Hopper JL, Krishnan K, Li J, Li Q, Pagano I, Rosner BA, Wong CS, Scott C, Stone J, Maskarinec G, Boyd NF, van Gils CH, Tamimi RM. Mammographic density phenotypes and risk of breast cancer: a meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2014; 106: dju078.

- Petroff BK, Clark JL, Metheny T, Xue Q, Kimler BF, Fabian CJ: Optimization of estrogen receptor analysis by immunocytochemistry in random periareolar fine-needle aspiration samples of breast tissue processed as thin layer preparations. Applied Immunohistochem Molec Morph 2006; 14:360-4.
- Phillips TA, Fabian CJ, Kimler BF, Petroff BK. Assessment of RNA in human breast tissue sampled by random periareolar fine needle aspiration and ductal lavage and processed as fixed or frozen specimens. Reprod Biol 2013; 13:75-81.
- Pinkerton JV, Harvey JA, Pan K, Thompson JR, Ryan KA, Chines AA, Mirkin S. Breast effects of bazedoxifene-conjugated estrogens: a randomized controlled trial. Obstet Gynecol. 2013;121:959-68.
- Pinkerton JV, Abraham L, Bushmakin AG, Cappelleri JC, Racketa J, Shi H, Chines AA, Mirkin S. Evaluation of the efficacy and safety of bazedoxifene/conjugated estrogens for secondary outcomes including vasomotor symptoms in postmenopausal women by years since menopause in the Selective estrogens, Menopause and Response to Therapy (SMART) trials. J Womens Health 2014; 23:18-28. (a)
- Pinkerton JV, Harvey JA, Lindsay R, Pan K, Chines AA, Mirkin S, Archer DF; SMART-5 Investigators. Effects of bazedoxifene/conjugated estrogens on the endometrium and bone: a randomized trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2014; 99:E189-98. (b)
- Pinkerton JV, Pan K, Abraham L, Racketa J, Ryan KA, Chines AA, Mirkin S. Sleep parameters and health-related quality of life with bazedoxifene/conjugated estrogens: a randomized trial. Menopause. 2014; 21:252-9. (c)
- Ropka ME, Keim J, Philbrick JT. Patient decisions about breast cancer chemoprevention: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol. 2010; 28:3090-5.
- Santisteban M, Reynolds C, Barr Fritcher EG, Frost MH, Vierkant RA, Anderson SS, Degnim AC, Visscher DW, Pankratz VS, Hartmann LC. Ki67: a time-varying biomarker of risk of breast cancer in atypical hyperplasia. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2010; 121:431-7.
- Shaaban AM, Sloane JP, West CR, Foster CS. Breast cancer risk in usual ductal hyperplasia is defined by estrogen receptor-alpha and Ki-67 expression. Am J Pathol. 2002; 160:597-604.
- Sherman S. Defining the menopause transition. Am J Med 2005; 118:3S-7S.
- Shi, H.,Gu,Y.,Yang,J.,Xu,L.,Mi,W.,Yu,W.. Lipocalin2 promotes lung metastasis of murine breast cancer cells. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2008; 27:83.
- Shoker BS, Jarvis C, Clarke RB, Anderson E, Hewlett J, Davies MP, Sibson DR, Sloane JP. Estrogen receptor-positive proliferating cells in the normal and precancerous breast. Am J Pathol 1999; 155:1811–5.
- Shrestha P, Yamada K, Wada T, Maeda S, Watatani M, Yasutomi M, Takagi H, Mori M. Proliferating cell nuclear antigen in breast lesions: correlation of c-erbB-2 oncoprotein and EGF receptor and its clinicopathological significance in breast cancer. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histopathol. 1992; 421:193-202.
- Soderqvist G, Isaksson E, von Schoultz B, Carlstrom K, Tani E, Skoog L. Proliferation of breast epithelial cells in healthy women during the menstrual cycle. Am J Obst Gynecol 1997; 176:123-8.
- Song Y, Santen RJ, Wang JP, Yue W. Effects of the conjugated equine estrogen/bazedoxifene tissue-selective estrogen complex (TSEC) on mammary gland and breast cancer in mice. Endocrinology. 2012; 153:5706-15
- Stone J, Gunasekara A, Martin LJ, Yaffe M, Minkin S, Boyd NF. The detection of change in mammographic density. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2003; 12:625-30.
- Tavassoli FA, Norris HJ. A comparison of the results of long-term followup for atypical intraductal hyperplasia and intraductal hyperplasia of the breast. Cancer. 1990; 65:518-29.

- Toniolo P, Koenig KL, Pasternack BS, Banerjee S, Rosenberg C, Shore RE, Strax P, Levitz M. Reliability of measurements of total, protein-bound, and unbound estradiol in serum. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 1994; 3:47-50.
- Tworoger SS, Zhang X, Eliassen AH, Qian J, Colditz GA, Willett WC, Rosner BA, Kraft P, Hankinson SE. Inclusion of endogenous hormone levels in risk prediction models of postmenopausal breast cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2014; 32:3111-7.
- Tyrer J, Duffy SW, Cuzick J. A breast cancer prediction model incorporating familial and personal risk factors. Stat Med 2004; 23:1111–30.
- Verkasalo PK, Thomas HV, Appleby PN, Davey GK, Key TJ. Circulating levels of sex hormones and their relation to risk factors for breast cancer: a cross-sectional study in 1092 pre- and postmenopausal women (United Kingdom). Cancer Causes Control. 2001; 12:47-59.
- Visvanathan K, Hurley P, Bantug E, Brown P, Col NF, Cuzick J, Davidson NE, Decensi A, Fabian C, Ford L, Garber J, Katapodi M, Kramer B, Morrow M, Parker B, Runowicz C, Vogel VG 3rd, Wade JL, Lippman SM. Use of pharmacologic interventions for breast cancer risk reduction: American Society of Clinical Oncology clinical practice guideline. J Clin Oncol 2013; 31:2942-62.
- Vona-Davis L, Rose DP. Adipokines as endocrine, paracrine, and autocrine factors in breast cancer risk and progression. Endocr Relat Cancer 2007; 14:189-206.
- Vogel VG, Costantino JP, Wickerham DL, Cronin WM, Cecchini RS, Atkins JN, Bevers TB, Fehrenbacher L, Pajon ER Jr, Wade JL 3rd, Robidoux A, Margolese RG, James J, Lippman SM, Runowicz CD, Ganz PA, Reis SE, McCaskill-Stevens W, Ford LG, Jordan VC, Wolmark N; National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project (NSABP). Effects of tamoxifen vs raloxifene on the risk of developing invasive breast cancer and other disease outcomes: the NSABP Study of Tamoxifen and Raloxifene (STAR) P-2 trial. JAMA 2006; 295:2727-41.
- Warwick J, Birke H, Stone J, Warren RM, Pinney E, Brentnall AR, Duffy SW, Howell A, Cuzick J. Mammographic breast density refines Tyrer-Cuzick estimates of breast cancer risk in high-risk women: findings from the placebo arm of the International Breast Cancer Intervention Study I. Breast Cancer Res 2014; 16:451.
- Yang J, Bielenberg DR, Rodig SJ, Doiron R, Clifton MC, Kung AL Strong RK, Zurakowski D, Moses MA. Lipocalin2 promotes breast cancer progression. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009; 106:3913–8.